1956

Q. T. Shepherd v. Max D. Holbrook and Blanche C. Holbrook : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this Court on appeal from a judgment of the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District of the State of Utah, in and for Millard County, in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, in an action tried before the court sitting without a jury. The judgment of the trial court was "that plaintiff take nothing by his complaint and that defendants have and recover from plaintiff all costs of this action."

Plaintiff commenced this action in claim and delivery to obtain possession of certain chickens, alleging a special interest by reason of being the chattel mortgagee under a chattel mortgage executed by one Kenneth E. Barker and his wife on January 15, 1952. Defendants claim title to the chickens under a sales contract dated January 18, 1950, which they claim to be conditional not only as to the real property, as to which there is no dispute, but also as to the chickens involved in this controversy, which plaintiff vigorously disputes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 18, 1950, defendants and respondents entered into a written agreement (Ex. 1) with Kenneth E. Barker and his wife whereby the Holbrooks agreed to sell and the Barkers agreed to buy certain real estate in Millard County, Utah, together with 8181 chickens and other personal property. Only chickens are involved in this controversy. The Barkers turned over other property worth approximately three-fourths of the purchase price as a down payment. (Tr. 63, R. 79).

So far as pertinent to the issues of this case, the Agreement between Holbrooks and Barkers can be summarized as follows:

1. That excepting for a stipulated minimum, the balance of the purchase price should be paid out of "net income." (See Paragraph 3 of the Agreement).

2. "Net Income" is defined in Par. 4 of the Agreement.
3. The Barkers were to maintain at all times approximately 8000 chickens on the farm.

And, respecting any title retaining provisions, the following paragraphs are quoted:

"17. The Sellers on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the times and in the manner mentioned agree to execute and deliver to the Buyers a good and sufficient Warranty Deed conveying title to the real estate described in paragraph 1 hereof free and clear from any encumbrance . . . and to deliver an Abstract of Title showing a good and marketable title in the Sellers except as provided in this paragraph."

"16. In the event of a failure to comply with the terms hereof by the Buyers, or upon failure to make any payments when the same shall become due, or within 60 days thereafter, the Sellers shall, at their option, be released from all obligations in law and equity to convey said property and all payments which have been made theretofore on this contract by the Buyers shall be forfeited to the Sellers as liquidated damages for the non-performance of the contract, and the Buyers agree that the Sellers may, at their option, re-enter and take possession of said premises without legal process as in its first and former estate, together with all improvements and additions made by the Buyers thereon, and the said additions and improvements shall remain with the land and become the property of the Sellers, the Buyers becoming at once a tenant at will of the Sellers. It is agreed that time is

the essence of this Agreement.”

The Agreement has no title retaining provisions other than as quoted, and makes no provision whatever respecting increase or replacements of chickens.

The Barkers went into possession of the real and personal property and commenced the egg and chicken business. They experienced financial difficulties to the end that Barkers became indebted to plaintiff for poultry feed and sundry supplies to the extent of \$4750.00 (Tr. 54-57, R. 70-73). Shortly prior to January 15, 1952, the plaintiff told the Barkers that he wanted a note secured by a chattel mortgage (Tr. 55, R. 71) and after negotiations the Barkers did on January 15, 1952, give plaintiff a promissory note in that sum, secured by a chattel mortgage (Tr. 57, R. 73) on 7300 chickens (Ex. 2) and--

“Together with all increases and replacements of any of said chickens.”

Since title to increase and replacements is involved in this case it may be well to state at this point that Barkers under the Agreement received 8181 chickens; that at the time plaintiff took his mortgage only 1000 of the original chickens remained on the premises (Finding of Fact No. 21); that at the time demand was made on Holbrooks for possession of the chickens involved in this action, none of the original chickens remained (Tr. 83, R. 99) and that at such time all of the 4000 chickens on the premises were

replacements (Tr. 83-84, R. 99-100).

Thereafter the plaintiff on the faith of the note and chattel mortgage extended further credit to the Barkers to the extent of approximately \$3200.00. Being himself in need of money, he prevailed on Barkers to borrow that sum of a bank and indorsed the Barker note which Barker did not pay.

Barkers paid only \$568.00 in reduction of his note to the plaintiff (Tr. 12; R. 28) and on or about the 29th day of September, 1955, commenced this action to recover immediate possession of the chickens and to foreclose his chattel mortgage. At that time Barkers were indebted to plaintiff in a sum in excess of \$8,000.00 including the bank note which plaintiff indorsed and which Barker did not pay.

Prior to the commencement of this action the Holbrooks commenced an action to repossess the property covered by the Agreement with Barker, since Barker had defaulted. In the course of that litigation the Holbrooks and Barkers settled their difficulties by some payment from Holbrooks to Barkers (Tr. 106, R. 122) and possession of the real property and 4000 chickens (Tr. 108, R. 124), which were replacements and not any of the original chickens, was given to the Holbrooks. Although plaintiff knew of the action between Holbrooks and Barkers he was not a party to it.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED ON

The errors relied on by the plaintiff for a reversal of the judgment of the trial court can be stated as follows:

I. The Sellers, respondents herein, did not retain title to chickens purchased by the Buyers to replace those chickens comprising the 8181 chickens which had been culled out or had died.

II. Title to the original 8181 chickens passed from the Sellers to the Buyers upon execution of the Agreement dated January 18, 1950.

III. The Court erred in admitting into evidence testimony by Mr. Barker as to his understandings of various words and provisions of the Agreement of January 18, 1950, because the testimony was inadmissible under the standard of interpretation to be applied in determining the meaning of the contract.

IV. The admission of certain testimony of Barker and Mr. and Mrs. Holbrook violated the Parol Evidence Rule.

V. The Agreement gave the Buyers the right to sell the chickens and the Sellers cannot therefore object to the appellant's mortgage which was given for value.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Sellers, respondents herein, did not retain title to

chickens purchased by the Buyers to replace those chickens comprising the 8181 original chickens which had been culled out or had died.

The chickens which the appellant sought to recover in this action by virtue of his chattel mortgage were replacements of the 8181 originals. The mortgage was given two years after the Agreement had been executed and at that time not more than 1000 of the original 8181 birds remained (Finding of Fact No. 21). And at the time appellant commenced this action, none of the original hens remained. All had been replaced by younger birds. This fact is extremely significant in this case and cannot be over-emphasized. It is appellant's contention that even though this Court should hold that title to the original 8181 chickens was retained by the sellers as security for the balance of the unpaid purchase price, by no means can the agreement be interpreted to also admit of the seller's retaining title to the replacements. Thus, appellant urges, title to the replacement chickens was clearly in the buyers and they were free to execute to the appellant a good chattel mortgage on them. Appellant's chattel mortgage was expressly made to extend to increase and replacements and there can be no question but what it covered the chickens possessed by the Sellers (respondents herein) at the time this action was commenced.

Counsel has not been able to find any cases respect-

ing replacements in conditional sales contracts. However, the same rule should apply as in cases of chattel mortgages since both are security devises used in the sale of personal property. The rule governing replacements in chattel mortgages is well stated at *10 Am. Jur., Sec. 133, Page 802*:

“Whether a mortgage of a stock of goods covers additions and substitutions thereafter made in the ordinary course of business depends on the intention of the parties as gathered from the language of all parts of the agreement, considered in relation to each other and interpreted with reference to the situations of the parties, and their objects, unless some established principle of law or sound public policy would thereby be violated. *The intention to cover additions and substitutions must be clearly expressed in the instrument in order to charge persons dealing with the stock with notice of that fact, and it has been held that, as a rule, the mortgage must expressly provide that it is to cover additions or substitutions where the rights of third persons are involved.*” (Italics added).

That the intent to include replacements or after-acquired property must be clearly expressed in the instrument (see *Jones on Chattel Mortgages & Cond. Sales*, 6th Ed., Sec. 173a, and the following cases: *Ryan v. Rogers*, 14 Idaho 309, 94 Pac. 427, 1916 D Ann. Cs. 1217; *Cunningham v. Alryan Woolen Mills*, 69 N. J. Eq. 710, 61 A. 372; *P. J. Black Lumber Co. v. Turk*, 50 Wyo. 361, 62 P. 2d 519; and *In re Thompson*, 164 Iowa 20, 145 N. W. 76, 1916 D.

Ann. (‘s. 1210. In the last cited case the court stated that in Iowa

“a party may by express terms mortgage, and his mortgage may be made to cover, not only stock in existence, but additions and substitutions thereafter made in the ordinary course of business . . . But the intent to do so must be *clearly expressed* in the mortgage, so as to charge persons dealing with the stock with notice of that fact.” (Italics added).

The court cited with approval an excerpt from *Jones on Chattel Mortgages*, 4th Ed., Sec. 154, wherein it is stated in substance that new goods which are acquired by way of renewal of old goods, or in substitution for them, or which are paid for out of the proceeds of old goods, are not brought under the mortgage unless the intent to do so be clearly shown.

The contract of January 18, 1950, can be searched in vain for any clear express provision or any provision that the sellers were to hold title to the chickens brought upon the farm as replacements of the 8181 originals. Under the rule of the above cited cases, the sellers did not have title to the replacements. Title to all replacements remained in Barkers as the purchasers of the replacements from third persons. When the parties drafted and executed the Agreement of January 18, 1950, they had it well in mind that the original 8181 chickens would be replaced from time to time by younger birds because

they provided that the buyers should operate the farm in an "efficient, economical and husbandlike manner" and the record is replete with testimony of all parties and witnesses that it was necessary to replace chickens for such an operation. Yet it is significant that they studiously avoided putting into their agreement any provision that title to the replacement birds should be held by the sellers as security. They went so far as to provide that approximately 8000 chickens should be kept on the farm at all times knowing that in a short time all would be replacements, but made no provision that title to such replacements should be held by the sellers. Plaintiff is confident that this Court knows that customarily chattel mortgages specifically cover increase and replacements where that is the intention of the lender and borrower, and equally it is true that contracts make such specific provision where the parties actually intend that title to increase and replacements should be in the seller.

There is a logical reason or explanation why the Agreement did not so provide. Barkers had paid three-fourths of the purchase price or had traded land to that value (Tr. 44-45, R. 60-61). The Holbrooks were, or thought they were, well secured by the title retaining features of the Agreement in connection with real property. The provision respecting the maintaining of 8000 chickens at all times was necessary in order that Barkers' net

income would be sufficient to pay out the balance, but certainly does not have title-retaining features. A provision similar to the above-mentioned provision of the Agreement was construed by the court in *Phillips v. Booth*, 58 Iowa 499, 12 N. W. 481. The court, after noting that the mortgage did not expressly provide that future acquisitions to stock should be held as included in the mortgage, stated:

“It is true, it (the mortgage) refers to a stock of boots and shoes and clothing but it also schedules and describes the mortgaged goods. There were no goods mortgaged excepting such as are scheduled because the language is that it is the property described in the following schedule. It may be that the parties intended to include future acquisitions of goods. The provision that the mortgagor should keep up the stock would seem to indicate something in that direction. But this is not a proceeding to reform the mortgage and we must take it as it reads. We cannot extend its provision, nor find by inference what was intended. The rule allowing property to be mortgaged which is not yet in being, or not owned by the mortgagor has in our opinion been extended quite far enough without allowing it to be done by mere inference.”

Jones in his treatise on *Chattel Mortgages & Cond. Sales*, 6th Ed., Sec. 173a, states the law to the same effect.

There being no clear expression of intent in the Agreement that the sellers should hold title to the replacement chickens, as required by the above authorities,

it follows that the sellers, respondents herein, cannot claim title to the replacement chickens.

II.

Title to the original 8181 chickens passed from the Sellers to the Buyers upon execution of the Agreement dated January 18, 1950.

An examination of the Agreement of January 18, 1950, entered into between the Holbrooks, as sellers, and the Barkers, as buyers, discloses that it was the intention of the parties that title to the personal property described in the Inventory attached thereto (which includes 8181 chickens) should pass from the sellers to the buyers upon the execution of that agreement. The Agreement will not admit of a construction that title to the personal property should be retained by the sellers until the purchase price had been paid in full, as was their intention respecting the real estate. In Paragraph 17 of that Agreement it is provided that title to the real estate should be conveyed upon payment of the purchase price in full:

“17. The Sellers on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the times and in the manner above mentioned agree to execute and deliver to the Buyers a good and sufficient Warranty Deed conveying title to the real estate described in paragraph 1 hereof free and clear from any encumbrance . . . and to deliver an Abstract of Title show-

ing a good and marketable title in the Sellers except as provided in this paragraph.”

There is no provision in the above paragraph or at any other place in the Agreement for the vesting of title in the personal property in the buyers upon their paying the purchase price in full. Had such been their intention, it is reasonable to assume that in Paragraph 17 provision would have been made to that effect. That the parties did not intend for the Sellers to retain title to the personal property is further borne out by the provisions of Paragraph 16 wherein it is provided:

“16. In the event of a failure to comply with the terms hereof by the Buyers, or upon failure to make any payments when the same shall become due, or within 60 days thereafter, the Sellers shall, at their option, be released from all obligations in law and equity to *convey* said property and all payments which have been made theretofore on this contract by the Buyers shall be forfeited to the Sellers as liquidated damages for the non-performance of the contract, and the Buyers agree that the Sellers may, at their option, *re-enter* and take possession of said *premises* without legal process as in its first and former estate, together with all improvements and additions made by the Buyers thereon, and the said additions and improvements shall remain with the *land* and become the property of the Sellers, the Buyers becoming at once a *tenant* at will of the Sellers. It is agreed that time is the essence of this Agreement.” (Italics added).

Note the choice of words in that paragraph which we have italicized: "Convey," "re-enter," "premises," "tenant." They could not more clearly be limited to real property in their application. They are not words which would be employed by a draftsman who intended to affect personal property as well as real property. There is conspicuously absent from the Agreement any provision for the recovering of the personal property upon the default of the buyers. Thus it can only be assumed that the parties intended the sale of the personal property to be absolute, that title pass from the sellers to the buyers upon the execution of the Agreement, and that the default of the buyers would have no affect on the title to the personalty. It should be remembered that the buyers had made a down payment of approximately $\frac{3}{4}$ of the value of the chicken ranch by conveying to the sellers their farm in North Ogden (R. 60, Tr. 44), and it is not unnatural in view of that large down payment that the sellers felt sufficiently secure in retaining only the title to the real estate and allowing the title to the personal property to pass at the time of the execution of the Agreement.

If there be any doubt as to the intent of the parties expressed in the Agreement as to when title to the personal property passed from the sellers to the buyers, recourse should then be made to *Secs. 60-2-2 and 60-2-3 Utah Code Ann. 1953*, wherein it is provided:

60-2-2. "(1) Where there is a contract to sell specific or ascertained goods, the property in them is transferred to the buyer at such time as the parties to the contract intended it to be transferred.

"(2) For the purpose of ascertaining the intention of the parties regard shall be had to the terms of the contract, the conduct of the parties, usages of trade and the circumstances of the case."

60-2-3. "Unless a different intention appears, the following are rules for ascertaining the intention of the parties as to the time at which the property in the goods is to pass to the buyer:

"Rule (1) Where there is an unconditional contract to sell specific goods in a deliverable state, the property in the goods passes to the buyer when the contract is made, and it is immaterial whether the time of payment, or the time of delivery, or both, is postponed."

The 8181 chickens designated in the inventory were specific goods in a deliverable state and under the above statutes title to them passed to the buyers at the time the agreement was signed, there being no different intention manifested in the Agreement. A recent case strikingly similar to the instant case in which the court relied upon the above sections of the Uniform Sales Act is *Ross v. Orr*, 3 N. J. 277, 69 A. 2d 730. There the plaintiff and defendant on March 18, 1946, entered into a written agreement for the sale and purchase of a garage building, the land on which it stood, and all the personal property then on the premises, except for a hydraulic jack. Right of possession to the premises was given immedi-

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