1956

## Q. T. Shepherd v. Max D. Holbrook and Blanche C. Holbrook : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

APPELLANT TOOK HIS MORTGAGE SUBJECT TO THE SECURITY INTERESTS OF RESPONDENTS.

No one has ever disputed the validity of appellant's mortgage. The sole issue in this lawsuit was whether this mortgage was subordinate to the interest of the Holbrooks in the same chickens. Appellant devotes his argument to the location of that illusive concept "title" and thereby seeks to resolve this case on the basis of legal semantics. It would be better to return to basic fundamentals. It is our contention that it is unimportant where "title" to the chickens is, or whether respondents' interest is that of a conditional vendor or whether it is that of an equitable mortgagee. In *either* case appellant was a mortgagee with notice of this interest and took his interest subject to it.

As this court knows, sellers in the State of Utah, of both real and personal property, have shown marked preference for the use of title retaining techniques to give them security for their unpaid purchase price, rather than real or chattel mortgages. In the instant case, the Holbrooks sold a stocked chicken ranch (which obviously comprises both land and chickens.) There were 8,000 laying hens on the property at the time. These hens represented a substantial portion of the value of the property, not only because of their worth per unit,

but because together they constituted a going concern. The buyers gave the sellers certain real property as down payment and agreed to pay the unpaid balance of \$12,266.55, together with interest in minimum installment payments of \$100.00 per month. The buyer agreed by contract to keep the same number of chickens on the property at all times and the contract further provided that, in the event of default in payment by the buyers, the sellers could re-enter and take possession of the "premises".

Appellant contends this contract only gave the sellers the right to re-enter the ground. He springs on the use of the word "premises" and seeks to restrict this term to real property only. He argues that "premises" should be restricted in meaning so that the sellers' security was only that of returning to a denuded farm robbed of its principal asset. Buyer and seller alike admit that they intended no such restrictive interpretation and respondents vigorously maintain that the contract says no such thing.

It is well established that the meaning of the term "premises" is dependent on the circumstances in which it is used and has no fixed legal significance. *O'Connor v. Great Lakes Pipe Line Company*, (CCA 8, 1933) 63 Fed. 2nd, 523, 526. In *Bankers' Trust Company v. Maxson*, (1926) 100 N.J.E. 1, 134 Atlantic, 875, 878, the Court held that, whenever

a mortgage is made upon goods and chattels and the bill prays for the sale of the mortgaged premises, the "premises" mentioned would include both the real estate and the chattels described in the mortgage. As a Texas court has held, "the word premises has, in legal parlance, a meaning so broad and varied that its interpretation in a given case, is to a great extent governed by the context". *Comeaux v. State* (1931) 118 Tex. Cr. 223, 42 S.W. 2d 255, 258. See also *Leach Co. v. Trace* (1929) 199 Wis. 292, 226 N.W. 308 where a contract of sale of both real and personal property provided that title to the "premises" should not be vested in the buyer until payment. The court held that the seller retained an interest in the personal property superior to attaching creditors.

Not only did the buyer and seller not intend the term to be so restricted, but no person could, in the light of the general nature of the contract, reasonably think that a seller would so restrict his security. Such an interpretation ignores and makes unnecessary the covenant to maintain 8,000 birds at all times until the Holbrooks were paid in full. For what other purpose would such a clause appear in a contract?

It is submitted that the only reasonable interpretation to be placed on this contract was that the sellers reserved the right to resume possession of the ranch, chickens and all. This meaning is clear

regardless of where "title" to the chickens is or was.

As the contract was to run for many years beyond the life of a chicken, it was obvious that defendants may have had to resume possession of the ranch at a time when the original number had been replaced by other chickens. The buyer would have had to so replace them in order to comply with the covenant to maintain the same number of chickens.

But the fact remains that sellers reserved the right to repossess at any time on default as security for the unpaid purchase price. Whether we label this a conditional sale or an equitable mortgage, it is in any case, clearly a security interest reserved in the sellers.

As Shepherd concedes, what is covered by the contract depends on the intention of the parties as gathered from the language of the agreement considered with reference to the situations of the parties and their objects. (Appellant's Brief p. 8)

"In determining whether a transaction is a sale or a mortgage, the intention of the parties as ascertained from the whole transaction is controlling." 14 C.J.S. page 583.

"An instrument by which one party agrees to sell, and the other to purchase, certain personal property, and which provides that the vendor shall have a lien on the property until the purchase price is paid, is in the nature of a mortgage . . ." 14 C.J.S. page 586.

Here is an interest in the chickens which a court would unquestionably protect as between buyer and seller.

Now how does this security interest of defendants affect a third party? The trial court expressly found that a "reasonably prudent person in these circumstances would have made inquiry of defendants (the Holbrooks) as to the security interest of defendants in the chickens" (Finding of Fact #11). Assuming therefore that appellant had been a lender carefully examining title prior to making a loan, even *then*, the trial court has found that with the facts at his command he would have had notice of the Holbrook's interest imposed upon him as a matter of law.

But appellant does not even occupy this category. Shepherd, as a feed man, extended credit to the buyer. The amount of credit began to soar dangerously. As his position became more precarious, Shepherd sought desperately for a means of securing this past indebtedness.

Appellant at that time, as the trial court has found, *knew* that the buyers were purchasing the ranch on contract from the Holbrooks. (Finding of Fact #10) He examined the chattel mortgage records and found that the contract had not been filed. Despite appellant's knowledge of the existence of a contract and his familiarity with the poultry busi-

ness, and his admission that the poultry on a stocked turkey farm constitutes a substantial portion of the value of such farm (R. p 51; Tr p 35), he at no time inquired of the Holbrooks as to whether they had any interest in such property. Indeed, why should appellant have inquired? He was not carefully checking title prior to making a loan. He was a worried creditor happy to take whatever security he could get from a failing debtor and he finally succeeded in obtaining the chattel mortgage. Subsequently, he found what he felt was a sufficient ambiguity in respondents' asserted security interest that he thought would warrant litigation. But appellant himself admits that he was in no way induced by the alleged ambiguity to enter into the transaction. He claims that he had never read the contract. (The buyer testified that he had, in fact, shown the contract to plaintiff prior to the signing of the chattel mortgage with plaintiff. (R. p. 71-72; Tr. p. 55-56).

The basic issue of this action, then, resolves itself to this: Even assuming that legal "title" was not in respondents as to the replaced chickens, they clearly had an equitable security interest in these. What are their rights, as opposed to appellant, to the chickens where this security interest was not filed in accordance with the provisions of our chattel mortgage legislation?

## POINT II.

### APPELLANT HAD NOTICE OF RESPONDENTS' SECURITY INTEREST.

It is, of course, well established that the filing statutes only protect a subsequent mortgagee from previous unfiled mortgages if he is a mortgagee in good faith for value without notice. (*Volker Lumber Co. v. Utah and Oregon Lumber Company*, (1915) 45 Utah 603, 148 Pac. 365) ; *Deseret Bank v. Kidman*, (1903) 25 Utah 379, 71 Pac. 873. *Pulsipher v. Chinn*, (1927) 69 Utah 401, 255 Pac. 439). Plaintiff does not meet these requirements and thus does not receive the protection of the statute.

The trial court, in the light of all the evidence, found that "a reasonably prudent person in these circumstances would have made inquiry of defendants as to the security interest of defendants in the chickens". (Finding of Fact #11) By reason of this, the trial court has concluded that appellant had constructive notice of the interest of defendants. (Conclusion of Law No. 1) This finding in itself subordinates appellant to the Holbrooks without any further discussion.

One court has summed up this situation admirably when it said:

On the other hand the proposition is established by an absolute unanimity of authority and is equally true both in its application

to constructive notice and to actual notice not proved by direct evidence but inferred from circumstances, that if the party obtains knowledge or information of facts tending to show the existence of a prior right in conflict with the interest which he is seeking to obtain, and which are sufficient to put a reasonably prudent man upon inquiry, then it may be a legitimate and perhaps even necessary inference that he acquired the further information which constitutes actual notice . . . finally, if it appears that the party has knowledge or information of facts sufficient to put a prudent man upon inquiry and that he wholly neglects to make any inquiry or, having begun it, fails to prosecute it in a reasonable manner, then also an inference of actual notice is necessary and absolute . . .

“How is Waddington’s action to be regarded in equity? He proceeded to close the transaction regardless of the information he had. His reason for doing so is plain. He was not making a loan on behalf of his company. He was getting security for a pre-existing debt and naturally would take a second mortgage if he could do no better. Knowledge of the prior mortgage did not deter him because he was seeking a lien upon the interest the mortgagor had in the property mortgaged, whatever that interest might be.” *Cambridge Production Credit Assn. v. Patrick* (Ohio) 1942), 45 NE 2d 751, 144 ALR 323.

### POINT III.

APPELLANT'S MORTGAGE IS SUBORDINATE TO RESPONDENTS' INTEREST BECAUSE IT WAS EXECUTED FOR PAST CONSIDERATION.

In addition to the above argument, it is well established that a mortgage for past consideration is subordinated to even nonrecord prior mortgagees.

Here as the trial Court has found, the buyers of the ranch, "at plaintiff's request and to evidence said existing indebtedness . . .", executed a note for \$4750.00 and "to secure said note, the Barkers executed to plaintiff a Crop and Chattel Mortgage". (Finding of Fact #9).

"A mortgage without consideration must yield to one given on good consideration. A subsequent mortgage taken in consideration of an antecedent debt is inferior to a prior mortgage regardless of whether or not the first mortgage was recorded." 14 Corpus Juris Secundum page 927.

"It is clear that a chattel mortgage given to secure a debt already owing by the mortgagor or by a third person is in all respects valid and binding as between the parties . . . A mortgagee taking a mortgage solely for an antecedent debt is, however, not deemed a bona fide purchaser or mortgagee for value. Such a mortgagee is not considered a mortgagee in good faith so as to be protected by the statutes requiring the filing and renewal of mortgages. He will take his mortgage subject to prior mortgages notwithstanding he has

no notice thereof and they are not filed or renewed as required by law." Eager, *The Law of Chattel Mortgages and Conditional Sales*, Dennis & Co. 1941, p. 47.

"According to the weight of authority, a mortgage for a pre-existing debt does not constitute the mortgagee a bona fide purchaser or mortgagee for value. . ." 10 Am. Jur. p. 852.

The United States Supreme Court has affirmed this principle with regard to chattel mortgages. (*People's Savings Bank v. Bates*, 120 U. S. 556, 30 Lawyer's Edition 754) In that case plaintiff took a chattel mortgage on February 7. On February 11 the defendant bank took a chattel mortgage to secure a certain past indebtedness of the debtor. Defendant bank filed its chattel mortgage prior to plaintiffs. The principal question to be decided was whether the defendant bank was a mortgagee in good faith and thus entitled to the protection of the filing statute. The defendant bank sought to apply cases applicable to negotiable instruments which held that the fact that the consideration was for past debts was not material. The United States Supreme Court expressly repudiated this and cited as the proper doctrine that "whatever the rule may be in the case of negotiable instruments, it is well settled that *the conveyance of lands or chattels as security for an antecedent debt will not operate as a purchase for value or defeat existing equities.*" (Page 758, emphasis added.)

It is obvious from these authorities that, whether or not plaintiff had actual or constructive notice in this case, he is precluded from asserting any priority because of the nature of the consideration which was the basis for his mortgage.

#### POINT IV.

THERE WAS NO ERROR AS TO QUESTIONS OF EVIDENCE.

Plaintiff expresses concern over the admission of certain testimony by the buyer and sellers as to their intent in making their contract and their understanding of its meaning. No one disputes the general rule that a document which is a full integration and is *clear and unequivocal* on its face cannot be varied by oral testimony as to the third party. But can anyone say that this document *clearly and unequivocally* provides that while the seller may re-enter the bare land and resume possession of it, that he would have no control over or rights to its principal asset, the chickens? It is submitted one cannot. To give plaintiff his fullest due, it can only be said that the contract is possibly ambiguous as to this point. (Although defendants do not concede that anyone applying common sense instead of tortuous legalism, could read this contract in its whole context, and believe that it did not give defendants the security they claim). Assuming *arguendo* some ambiguity, the trial court has found that plaintiff knew

of this contract and had constructive notice of the interest of defendants. It has found that a reasonably prudent person would have inquired of defendants as to their interests. Upon inquiry, defendants, (the sellers) would have told the inquirer what they thought the contract meant and what they intended it to mean. Nor would the buyer disagree — he also believed that the contract had only one meaning in this regard. Such testimony thus had direct bearing on the good faith of plaintiff, and of the nature of the notice he would have received if he had made inquiry.

In addition, let us assume that a third party “P” wishes to plan a course of conduct, the success of which is dependent upon the meaning of a writing between “X” and “Y” who are accessible to “P”. Although “X” and “Y” do not disagree at all as to the meaning of the writing, the writing is on its face ambiguous (i.e., it could reasonably be given one of two interpretations). Surely the third party cannot, to protect his own interests, place a diametrically opposite interpretation on the contract and then subordinate the rights of “X” and “Y” thereto!

If there had been disagreement between the contracting parties as to the meaning of a writing ambiguous on its face, then courts or third parties must look further in interpreting the document and

might have to rely upon legal presumptions. But, of course, this is just not the case here.

Plaintiff refers to Rule 1 of Section 19 of the Uniform Sales Act (Section 60-2-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953) to determine the intention of the parties here. First, it is questioned whether the sales act applies here — his contract was not essentially one for the sale of “goods”, nor is it severable. 2 Williston on Sales § 466 et seq; *Battle Creek etc. Co. v. Paramount Baking Co.*, (1943) 88 Utah 67, 39 p. 2d 323. Moreover the statute cited is prefaced by the words “unless a different intention appears”. It does *not* say “appears from a writing alone”. Here, clearly a different intention did appear. Intent, unless precluded by the parole evidence rule, (obviously not applicable here if ambiguity of the writing is conceded) is usually best shown by oral testimony. It is submitted that this statute would only apply in three instances: (1) where no reference at all to the disputed fact was made; (2) where the writing is ambiguous and the parties thereto disagree; (3) Where, for some reason, the parties have perpetuated a fraud on a third party. Clearly none of these apply here.

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